THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE LAW COURT

Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000733

Kan Enterprises, Inc., d/b/a A1 Food Stores.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Ellen Fishburne Triplett,
Keith McIver, Samuel L. Munson, Jocelyn Munson, and Michael Hill, Respondents.

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

S. Jahue Moore, SC Bar #4063
John C. Bradley, Jr., SC Bar #7869
MOORE TAYLOR LAW FIRM, P.A.
1700 Sunset Boulevard
West Columbia, SC 29169
803-796-9160
803-791-8410 (Fax)
john@mttlaw.com

Kenneth E. Allen
KEN ALLEN ATTORNEY
1201 Main Street, Ste. 1980
Columbia, SC 29201

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT APPLY THE INCORRECT STANDARD IN ITS ORDER DENYING APPELLANT'S RENEWAL OF ITS OFF PREMISES BEER AND WINE PERMIT?
- II. IS THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT THE FEBRUARY 10, 2015 HEARING?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER RELY ON UNSUBSTANTIATED OPINION TESTIMONY/EVIDENCE?
- IV. DOES THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER DEPRIVE APPELLANT OF A VESTED INTEREST UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW?
- V. DOES THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER VIOLATE APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS?
- VI. DOES THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER VIOLATE APPELLANT'S EQUAL PROTECTION RIGHTS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter came before the Court for a contested case hearing pursuant to Appellant Kan Enterprises, Inc., d/b/a A1 Food Stores' ("A1 Food Store") application for a renewal of its seven-day off premises beer and wine permit filed with the Respondent South Carolina Department of Revenue ("Department") on or about July 31, 2014. (R. pp. 512 - 518.) The Department denied the Appellant's request on or about December 10, 2014. (R. pp. 18 - 21.) Appellant timely appealed this decision to the Administrative Law Court and a contested case hearing was held on February 10, 2015. (R. pp. 72-473).

At the hearing, the Department's attorney stipulated in open court that the Department determined that Appellant met all statutory requirements for the seven-day off premises beer and wine permit and would have granted the permit but for public protest. (R. p. 78, ll. 7-14.) Testimony was then heard by Judge Ralph King Anderson, III ("Judge Anderson"). On February 20, 2015, Judge Anderson issued his Order denying the Appellant's application for a seven-day renewal. (R. pp. 10 - 14.)

Appellant timely moved for reconsideration, for a stay and supersedeas, along with a memorandum of law in support of its motions. (R. pp. 34 - 61.) In response to this motion, the Court issued two orders, an order denying Appellant's motions for reconsideration, for a stay and supersedeas, as well as an order amending its prior February 20, 2015, Order to include additional findings of fact. (A. pp. 1 - 15.) This appeal timely followed. (R. pp. 489 - 510).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A1 Food Store is located on Monticello Road in Columbia, South Carolina. (R. pp. 340 - 344.) It is owned by Kan Enterprises. (R. p. 118, ll. 20-23.) It is located adjacent to a post office in a heavily trafficked part of Columbia. (R. pp. 94, l. 25 - 95, l. 2.) There is a City of Columbia Police substation located in close proximity. (R. p. 95, ll. 6-14.) Police officers from the substation frequent the business and utilize the business' parking lot. (R. p. 106, ll. 5-18; pp. 107, l. 18 - 108, l. 6.) Across the street is an unrelated business, located at 4039 Monticello Road, which was recently granted an off premises beer and wine permit. (R. p. 95, ll. 15-18.)

A1 Food Store has held an off premises beer and wine permit for many years and for at least two years under its present ownership. (R. pp. 89, l. 23 - 90, l. 1.) This license has never been revoked or suspended. (R. p. 114, ll. 14-16.) Approximately 40 percent of A1 Food Store's business comes from the sale of beer and wine for off premises consumption. (R. p. 119, ll. 3-17.) In addition to beer and wine, A1 Food Store sells, "...almost everything from day-to-day daily basis...whatever people need. Like it could be Clorox with the detergent powder. It could be toilet paper. It could be automotive oil or soap, you know, the type of things that people need on a day to day basis." (R. pp. 90, l. 20 - 91, l. 3.) In addition, the store sells frozen food. (R. p. 91, ll. 7-12.) It also sells lottery tickets and has an in-store ATM. (R. p. 104, ll. 5-10.)

A1 Food Store also sells beer and wine for off premises consumption. (R. p. 104, ll. 3-20.) In the store, food or drink consumption is not allowed. (R. p. 91, ll. 15-19.) A1 Food Store is open from 5:00 a.m. until 2:00 a.m. during weekdays and 24 hours a day during the weekends. (R. p. 94, ll. 11-16.)

For the past two years, A1 Food Store has been managed by Vinno ("Vinny") Sehgal. (R. p. 84, ll. 11-12; p. 85, ll. 6-16.) Mr. Sehgal testified that he is physically present at the store 6-8 hours a day and is available by phone "24/7." (R. pp. 111, l. 21 – 112, l. 9.) He testified that A1 Food Store maintains an interior and exterior security camera system with "eight or nine cameras." (R. p. 92, ll. 5-14.) These operate "24/7." (R. p. 114, ll. 17-24.) Monitor screens are located in Mr. Sehgal's office and at the counter. (R. p. 92, ll. 15-18; p. 93, ll. 13-19.) Images from these cameras are retained for 2-3 days. On occasion, images from the cameras have been furnished, on request, to the City of Columbia Police Department. (R. pp. 120, l. 23 – 121, l. 11.)

In addition to the security system, the store employs a security guard during night-time hours. (R. pp. 114, l. 17 – 115, l. 10.) This individual was hired after Mr. Sehgal took over management and is physically on the premises from at least 10:00 p.m. until closing each night. (R. p. 115, ll. 4-10; p. 146, ll. 17-25; p. 147, ll. 15-20). The security guard's job is to monitor both the inside and outside premises. (R. p. 147, ll. 3-10.)

Mr. Sehgal testified that individuals are not allowed to drink alcohol in the building or parking lot. (R. p. 98, ll. 15-18.) Sales of alcohol are not made to intoxicated customers. (R. pp. 109, l. 25 – 110, l. 9.) There are signs inside the store regarding underage drinking and employees received "on the job" training regarding sale of alcohol to underage drinkers. (R. pp. 112, l. 10 – 114, l. 11.) There is a large sign posted on premises indicating that the property is under surveillance and that there is to be no on

premises consumption of alcohol, no narcotics, no panhandling and no loitering. (R. p. 94, ll. 19-24.) At times "no trespassing" signs have been placed on the property as well. (R. p. 99, ll. 8-12.)

Two months prior to the hearing, Mr. Sehgal installed high intensity flood lights to illuminate all areas around the business. (R. pp. 96, l. 18 – 97, l. 20.) Mr. Sehgal testified that neither he nor his employees confront individuals who disregard this sign, but instead call upon/rely upon the City of Columbia Police to do so. (R. pp. 98, l. 19 – 97, l. 7.)

In addition, Mr. Sehgal testified that at least three times a day his employees check the parking lot and areas surrounding the store for litter. (R. pp. 99, l. 24 – 100, l. 5.) A1 Food Store is located on a busy street and adjacent to numerous other stores and businesses. (R. pp. 101, l. 18 – 102, l. 3.) Mr. Sehgal testified that he does not know where this litter comes from. (R. p. 100, ll. 6-25.) He testified that this litter could come from any of these 10-15 other businesses. (R. pp. 100, l. 17 – 101, l. 10.) He testified that he did everything he could to keep the business neat and clean. (R. pp. 110, l. 13 – 111, l. 6.) Appellant presented testimony from several witnesses to the effect that the condition of the store had improved since Mr. Sehgal took over as manager. (R. p. 130, ll. 14-20; pp. 144, l. 17 – 145, l. 3; pp. 147, l. 22 – 149, l. 2.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A reviewing Court may reverse or modify the decision of the Administrative Law Court (ALC) judge if the finding, conclusion or decision reached by the ALC is arbitrary or capricious or characterized by an abuse of discretion or is a clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion; violates constitutional or statutory provisions; or is clearly

erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the whole record or is affected by an error of law. S.C. Code § 1-23-610(B); *Original Blue Ribbon Taxi Corp. v. S.C. Dep't of Motor Vehicles*, 380 S.C. 600, 670 S.E.2d 674 (S.C. Ct. App. 2008).

DISCUSSION OF LAW

A. THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE INCORRECT STANDARD.

The Final Orders and Decisions of the Administrative Law Judge, as well as his Order denying Appellant's post-hearing motions, are based on a misinterpretation and misapplication of the applicable South Carolina Law. This matter was before the Court for a renewal of an existing license, not a first time application for a beer and wine permit. The Court erroneously treated this matter as a first time application and not as a renewal of a long time license.

Two cases of the South Carolina Appellate Courts are illuminating and applicable to the facts of the present case and demonstrate the Court's erroneous rationale and ruling in this case. In *Taylor v. Lewis*, 261 S.C. 168, 198 S.E.2d 801 (1973), respondent, the holder of an existing off premises beer and wine permit, appealed the decision of the Commission denying a renewal on the grounds that its location was unsuitable for the sale of beer or wine.

The Supreme Court reversed the Commission's decision citing the fact that there, like here, the premises in question had operated with a permit for a lengthy period of time (the premises in question here has operated, upon information and belief, with a permit for approximately 20 years). The Court held that the real issue before the Court was not whether the respondent's premises were "suitable", but whether or not any conditions had

changed since its last renewal. The *Taylor* Court reversed the denial on the grounds that "the record is devoid of any showing that the location is any less suitable for the sale of beer now than during the prior five (5) year period." 261 S.C at 802; 198 S.E.2d at 172.

Similarly, in the case of *Byers v. South Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission*, 281 S.C. 566, 316 S.E.2d 705 (1984), the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed the Circuit Court's reversal of the Commission's determination that respondent's business was unsuitable for a permit to sell wine and beer. In its decision denying Respondent's permit request, the Commission had cited such factors as, "... (2) at least ten incidents at the club were reported to police in the seven month period preceding the hearing; (3) crime in the area is increasing; (4) traffic in the area is heavy; and (5) the permits for some other locations in the area had not been renewed."

The Court held that these facts were insufficient to deny respondent's renewal and affirmed the lower court's order reversing the Commission's adverse determination. The Court held:

The evidence...reveals that the Hayloft is located in a commercial area. It has operated under a permit to sell wine and beer for over twenty years. Its present owner was issued a permit without protest just seven months prior to the hearing on the respondent's application. Several other establishments in the area sell beer and wine. There was no evidence that the crime rate or traffic in the area had increased since the permit was issued for the Hayloft seven months previously.

Again, the Court, citing the *Taylor v. Lewis* case specifically, recognized that, "the record is devoid of any showing that the location is less suitable for the sale of beer now than during the prior (twenty) year period."

The Appellant submits that these cases are controlling to this case. Like the applicants in these two cases, the Appellant has held an off premises beer and wine

permit for a lengthy period of time. There has been a permit in place at the business for approximately twenty (20) years. Renewals have been consistently granted without protest. Contrary to the evidence presented by the Intervenor and relied on by the Court, evidence presented before the Court in this case did not establish that the area around the Appellant's business has changed significantly since the last renewal. While Respondents presented evidence as to the present status of the neighborhood and perceived problems in the neighborhood pertaining to litter, crime and loitering, there was no evidence that any of these issues had increased significantly since the last renewal of Appellant's license. Like *Taylor* and *Lewis*, the evidence presented to the Court that did not establish that Appellant's location is any less suitable for the sale of beer now than during the period of time that it had held a license and during the period of time since its last renewal. The Trial Court misconstrued and misapplied existing South Carolina law and applied the incorrect standard in this case and its Order denying Appellant's license should be reversed by this Court.

B. THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL.

Even if the Trial Judge applied the correct standard in this case (which Appellant denies) the overwhelming evidence in this case does not support a denial of the renewal of Appellant's off premises beer and wine permit. In support of his decision, Judge Anderson cited and relied upon two factors - one instance in which the Appellant's business was cited for selling beer to a minor and the fact that the number of calls for law enforcement service to Appellant's store had increased from 209 calls in 2012 to 252 calls in 2014. (A. pp. 10-15; R. pp. 10 - 14).

Mr. Sehgal admitted to the incident where an employee, "Raoul", "made a mistake" and sold alcohol to a minor. (R. pp. 124, l. 22 - 125, l. 11.) Mr. Sehgal testified that this was a "mistake" and the store paid a fine. (R. pp. 106, l. 25 - 107, l. 17.) "Raoul" (who is still employed at the store today) admitted he made a mistake and was given a verbal warning. (R. pp. 124, ll. 22 - 125, l. 11.) There have been no other instances of violations.*

The Court erroneously stated that Appellant "did nothing" about this incident and that this failure supported the non-renewal of its license. This finding totally ignores the evidence presented at trial. Further, by making this judgment, the Court substitutes its own business judgment for that of Mr. Sehgal. The Court's Order seems to imply that putting an employee out of work for one "mistake" would have been the correct course of action for Mr. Sehgal.

The Court also cited the fact that calls to the police had increased. This finding ignored Mr. Sehgal's testimony that he instructed his employees to call law enforcement if they had a problem and not to take matters into their own hands. (R. p. 106, ll. 5-22.) The Court's Order, however, encourages businesses who want a permit to take matters into their own hands and not call the police when they have a problem.

The Trial Court's Order also ignores the greater weight of evidence presented by Appellant. Mr. Sehgal, who has managed A1 Food Store for the past two years, testified that he is physically at the store 6-8 hours a day and is available by phone "24/7." (R. pp. 111, l. 21 - 112, l. 9.) He testified that the business maintains an interior and exterior security camera system with "eight or nine cameras." (R. p. 92, ll. 5-14.) These operate

* Appellant offered testimony regarding steps the business took to prevent sales of alcohol to minors. (R. p. 112, ll. 19 - 25.)

"24/7." (R. p. 114, ll. 17-24.) Monitors are located in Mr. Sehgal's office and at the counter. (R. p. 92, ll. 15-18; p. 93, ll. 13-19.) Images from these cameras are retained for 2-3 days. On occasion, images from the cameras have been furnished, on request, to the City of Columbia Police Department. (R. pp. 120, l. 23 - 121, l. 11.)

In addition to the security system, the store employs a security guard during the night-time hours. (R. pp. 114, l. 18 - 115, l. 10.) This individual was hired after Mr. Sehgal took over management and is physically on the premises from at least 10:00 p.m. until closing each night to monitor both the interior and the exterior of the premises. (R. p. 115, ll. 4-10; p. 146, ll. 17-25; p. 147, ll. 3-10, 15-20.)

Mr. Sehgal testified that individuals are not allowed to drink alcohol in the building or parking lot. (R. p. 98, ll. 15-18.) Sales of alcohol are not made to intoxicated customers. (R. pp. 109, l. 25 - 110, l. 9.) There are signs inside the store regarding underage drinking and employees received "on the job" training regarding sale of alcohol to underage drinkers. (R. pp. 112, l. 10 - 114, l. 11.) There is a large sign posted on premises indicating that the property is under surveillance and that there is to be no on premises consumption of alcohol, no narcotics, no panhandling and no loitering. (R. p. 94, ll. 19-24.) At times "no trespassing" signs have been placed on the property as well. (R. p. 99, ll. 8-12.)

Two months ago, Mr. Sehgal installed high intensity flood lights to illuminate all areas around the business. (R. pp. 96, l. 18 - 97, l. 20.) Mr. Sehgal testified that neither he nor his employees confront individuals who disregard the posted signs, but instead call upon the City of Columbia Police to do so. (R. pp. 98, l. 19 - 99, l. 7.)

In addition Mr. Sehgal testified that at least three times a day his employees check the parking lot and areas surrounding the store for litter. (R. pp. 99, l. 24 – 100, l. 5.) A1 Food Store is located on a busy street and adjacent to numerous other stores and businesses. (R. pp. 101, ll. 18 – 102, l. 3.) Mr. Sehgal testified that he does not know where this litter comes from. (R. p. 100, ll. 6-25.) He testified that this litter could come from any of these 10-15 other businesses. (R. pp. 100, l. 17 - p. 101, l. 10.) He testified that he did everything he could to keep the business neat and clean. (R. pp. 110, l. 13 – 111, l. 6.) Appellant presented testimony from several witnesses to the effect that the condition of the store had improved since Mr. Sehgal took over as manager. (R. p. 130, ll. 14-20; pp. 144, l. 17 – 145, l. 3; pp. 147, l. 22 – 149, l. 2.)

The Trial Court ignored this evidence in its Order. His findings that Appellant had made no effort to improve its business and had, in fact, stymied efforts to clean up the neighborhood are not supported by the evidence presented at trial and are tantamount to an abuse of discretion. (R. pp. 10 - 14; A. pp. 10-15.) The Trial Court's Order denying the Appellant's permit is clearly erroneous and should be reversed by this Court.

C. THE COURT'S ORDER RELIED ON UNSUBSTANTIATED OPINION EVIDENCE.

Judge Anderson's Orders denying the Appellant's renewal erroneously rely on the opinions and conclusions of the Intervenors and their witnesses and lack a sufficient factual basis to deny Appellant's renewal. Judge Anderson noted that, but for the protests of the intervenors and their witnesses, the renewal would have been granted. (R. p.11.) This evidence formed an important part of the Order denying Appellant's renewal. However, the evidence presented by the Intervenors and their witnesses was not

sufficient to deny Appellant's renewal and the Trial Court's Order should be reversed by this Court.

In his Order, the Trial Judge cited such issues as vagrancy, panhandling and loitering, not at the Appellant's business, but in an alley adjacent to it. According to the evidence cited in the Court's Order, individuals loitering in this alley (which is not part of Appellant's business or property) engage in solicitation, using the bathroom, and sexual acts.

The Court heard opinion testimony from Intervenors and their numerous witnesses. These witnesses testified to a number of complaints about A1 Food Store regarding such things as its appearance, its signage, the condition of the building and parking lot, the fact A1 Food Store sells single beers, and the fact customers smoke inside the store.* The Intervenors attributed all this activity to the Appellant's business and license. However, the Court also cited two other businesses near Appellant's, a Hess and a Sunoco store, who also sell beer and wine for off-site consumption. The Court heard testimony, unrefuted at trial, that Respondent Department of Revenue recently granted an off-premises beer and wine sales license to a business located directly adjacent to the Appellant's. Any of these existing businesses could as easily contribute to and/or cause this loitering as the Appellant. Further, this activity could just as easily occur if there were no businesses in the area selling beer or wine. The only evidence directly linking these activities to the Appellant's business was the opinion testimony presented at the hearing by those opposed to the Appellant's renewal. The opinion testimony linking this

*None of these factors should play any part in whether or not the Appellant's license is renewed. *Byers v. South Carolina Alcoholic Beverage Control Commission*, 281 S.C. 566, 316 S.E.2d 705 (1984).

problem solely to the Appellant's business is not sufficient to support an order denying its renewal. *Taylor v. Lewis*, 261 S.C. 168, 198 S.E.2d 801 (1973).

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