RECEIVED

JAN 13 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ADMINISTRATIVE COURT

Ralph King Anderson, III, Chief Administrative Law Judge

ALC Docket No. 14-ALJ-17-0571-CC
Appellate Case No. 2015-000733

Kan Enterprises, Inc., d/b/a A 1 Food
Stores,.....Appellant,

v.

South Carolina Department of Revenue, Ellen Fishburne Triplett,
Keith McIver, Samuel L. Munson, Jocelyn Munson, and Michael
Hill,.....Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ELLEN FISHBURNE TRIPLETT,
KEITH MCIVER, SAMUEL L. MUNSON, JOCELYN MUNSON, AND
MICHAEL HILL**

CALLISON TIGHE & ROBINSON, LLC
Kathleen M. McDaniel, Esq.
P.O. Box 1390
Columbia, South Carolina 29202

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

Taylor, 261 S.C. at 171, 198 S.E.2d at 802. Thus, the Supreme Court affirmed reversal of the denial of the permit based upon the failure of those opposing the permit to support their contentions with substantial evidence. A lack of showing that the location was any less suitable than it had been in the prior licensing period was one of many deficiencies of

the record and not the sole factor that determined the outcome of that case.

Likewise, in *Byers*, this Court upheld the reversal of a denial of a beer and wine permit based upon the finding that the Alcohol and Beverage Control Commission's conclusions were either irrelevant to a determination of suitability or not supported by substantial evidence. 281 S.C. 566, 568-69, 316 S.E.2d 705, 707. The reference to *Taylor* merely added support to this Court's determination that the permit was improperly denied.

In this case, the Administrative Law Court fully considered and evaluated the effect of *Taylor* and *Byers* in its determination to deny renewal of Kan's beer and wine permit for sales at the A1 Food Store. In its Order on Motion for Reconsideration, For a Stay and For Supersedeas, the Administrative Law Court explained its reasoning as follows:

Moreover, *Taylor* and *Byers* do not stand for the proposition that businesses can continue to have problems with littering, loitering, and other activities requiring constant calls to law enforcement without any noticeable improvements can simply continue to operate in a like manner as long as they were able to get permitted under like conditions beforehand. Such an absolute rule would allow locations that have become a nuisance to the community and a burden to law enforcement to continue adversely affecting the community under the theory that their aberrant behavior is vested. Under [Kan's] theory, the Court cannot consider the improvement of the community around the location in determining the renewal of a permit or permit involving alcohol because a prior determination of suitability renders the surrounding community's condition irrelevant.

(Order on Motion for Reconsideration, for a Stay and for Supersedeas, internal footnote omitted; R. p. A-3.)

The application of *Taylor* in renewal cases was also articulated in the order of another Administrative Law Judge:

Petitioner places too much emphasis on a single phrase pulled from the *Taylor* case, arguing that, regardless of any other evidence of the unsuitability of the location for the proposed business, a permit or permit to sell alcoholic beverages must be issued if there is no showing that the location is less suitable for the sale of beer now than at the time the location was previously permitted. . . . A full and careful reading of *Taylor*, however, reveals that the case turned on the fact that there was no competent factual evidence supporting the finding that the location was unsuitable sufficient to overcome the presumption that the location was suitable to continue to be permitted to operate to sell beer, wine and liquor.

Barfly Enterprises, LLC v. S.C. Dept. of Revenue, 2013 WL 6620406 (Dec. 10, 2013).

Taylor and *Byers* do not state a determinative proposition of law regarding the renewal of beer and wine permits, but add another factor to the consideration of the suitability of the location. The Administrative Law Court properly acknowledged and considered this factor in its determination to deny Kan's beer and wine permit, stating:

S.C. Code Ann. § 61-4-520 and 540 (2009) generally set forth the requirements for the issuance of a beer-and-wine permit. Section 61-4-520(5) provides that the location of the proposed business must be a proper one.

Although "proper location" is not statutorily defined, the ALC is vested, as the trier of fact, with the authority to determine the fitness or suitability of a particular location. *Fast Stops, Inc. v. Ingram*, 276 S.C. 593, 281 S.E.2d 118 (1981). The determination of a "proper location" is not necessarily a function solely of geography. *Palmer v. S.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm'n*, 282 S.C. 246, 249, 317 S.E.2d 476, 478 (1985). It involves an infinite variety of considerations related to the nature and operation of the proposed business and its impact upon the community within which it is to be located. *Id.* at 327, 338 S.E.2d at 337. It is also relevant to consider whether the proposed location has been previously approved for a permit or permit and whether its suitability has altered over time. *See Smith v. Pratt*, 258 S.C. 504, 508, 189 S.E.2d 310, 302 (1972); *Taylor v. Lewis*, 261 S.C. 168, 171-72, 198 S.E.2d 801, 802 (1973); *Byers v. S.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm'n*, 281 S.C. 566, 569, 316 S.E.2d 705, 707 (1984).

(Amended Final Order and Decision, R. p. A-14.)

As properly held by the Administrative Law Court, this case is distinguishable from *Taylor* and *Byers* because these Respondents presented competent evidence sufficient to overcome any presumption of suitability. In particular, the evidence regarding the increasing amount of crime emanating from the A1 Food Store and the documented sale of alcohol to an underage individual demonstrates the unsuitability of that location for a beer and wine permit.

To the extent this Court could determine that Appellant properly interprets *Taylor* as standing for the proposition that there must be a demonstrated decrease in suitability in order to deny renewal of a beer and wine permit, there is substantial evidence in the record showing that the location is less suitable than it was when Kan's beer and wine permit was previously renewed. The documentary and testimonial evidence demonstrates that since the last renewal, the number of arrests at the A1 Food Store have increased, calls for police service at night have increased, in July 2014 Kan violated the law by selling alcohol to an underage individual, and the condition and appearance of the store have hindered recent community efforts to improve the neighborhood. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the ALC's decision to deny renewal of Kan's beer and wine permit.

III. The ALC did not improperly base its decision upon unsubstantiated opinion evidence.

Kan asserts that the ALC improperly relied on unsubstantiated opinion evidence in reaching its decision. This is incorrect. Not only did the ALC base its decision on fact evidence in, any opinion testimony that may have been considered was grounded in facts directly observed and related by the witnesses called to the stand.

In formulating the findings of fact of its original Final Order and Decision (R. pp. 10–14), the ALC relied on the eye-witness accounts regarding littering, crime, loitering, alcohol consumption, and solicitation at and around the A1 Food Store. The ALC expressly invoked this factual testimony in noting that neighbors and law enforcement “witness problems with vagrancy and loitering.” (*Id.*, R. p. 11.) The specific crime statistics submitted into evidence by these Respondents’ three law enforcement witnesses allowed the ALC to find that Kan’s store has been “an undue burden on law enforcement.” (*Id.*, R. p. 12.) The ALC relied upon photographs of the store, and not opinion testimony, to determine that its “seedy appearance, which stands in contrast to that of the nearby Hess and Sunoco stores, further attracts those who are apt to loiter in the area.” (*Id.*) The ALC relied upon Sehgal’s own fact testimony that “Petitioner does not provide any formal training for the sale of alcohol and tobacco to minors” even though the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division has cited the store for the sale of alcohol to minors. (*Id.*) The ALC also relied on these Respondents’ fact testimony about their efforts to improve their neighborhood. Furthermore, Kan’s own witness testified to the amount of effort required to pick up litter—an effort, which the ALC rightly found to be a “reflection of the litter problem that the Store spawns.” (*Id.*, R. p. 13.)

This issue was addressed in Kan’s Motion for Reconsideration. In response, the ALC issued an Order on Motion for Reconsideration, for a Stay and for Supersedeas, explaining that the ALC, in fact, relied not only on the fact evidence submitted by these Respondents, but also on Kan’s own witnesses’ testimony regarding the proliferation of litter around the A1 Food Store. (Order on Motion for Reconsideration, a Stay and for Supersedeas, R. pp. 1–5.) The ALC reiterated that its determination was based upon the

first-hand accounts of these Respondents' witnesses and not merely upon opinion testimony. (*Id.*) The ALC's Amended Final Order and Decision reflects these considerations. (R. pp. 6–9.)

The record in this case contains direct, fact evidence linking problems in the area with the sale of alcohol at the A1 Food Store. In deciding the case, the ALC was free to consider any evidence that was adverse to Kan, *see Kearney v. Allen*, 287 S.C. 324, 326, 338 S.E.2d 335, 337 (1985), and it was also free to weigh that evidence and judge witnesses' credibility as it deemed appropriate. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 1–23–610 (B) (2014); *S.C. Cable Television Ass'n v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 308 S.C. 216, 222, 417 S.E.2d 586, 589 (1992).

Therefore, considering the ALC's prerogative to freely weigh the evidence before it and the ample contents of the record, this Court should affirm the ALC's denial of renewal of Kan's beer and wine permit.

IV. The ALC's decision to deny Kan's application for permit renewal did not result in deprivation of any vested property interest owned by Kan.

Kan could not have been deprived of a vested property interest because it had none. It cannot have a property interest in an alcohol permit because, under S.C. Code Ann. § 61–2–140 (B) (1976), alcohol permits are the property of the DOR. According to our Supreme Court, permits for sale of alcohol are:

neither contracts nor rights of property. They are mere permits, issued or granted in the exercise of the police power of the state to do what otherwise would be unlawful to do; and to be enjoyed only so long as the restrictions and conditions governing their continuance are complied with.

Feldman v. S. C. Tax Comm'n, 203 S.C. 49, 26 S.E.2d 22, 25 (1943). Because Kan had no property interest in its beer and wine permit, it could not have ever had any vested property right to such permit's renewal.

Kan argues, citing *Pure Oil Division, et al. v. The City of Columbia*, 254 S.C. 28, 173 S.E.2d 140 (1970), that the ALC's decision was "tantamount to depriving the Appellant of his vested property right without cause." (Appellant's Br. 16.) The facts of *Pure Oil*, however, are a poor analog for Kan's situation. That case involved a right to build and operate a gas station pursuant to a zoning ordinance in force. The principles on which *Pure Oil* rested are reflected in the Vested Rights Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1510 (2014), *et seq.*, wherein "vested right" is a defined term. S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-1520 (10) (2014). "'Vested right' means the right to undertake and complete the development of property under the terms and conditions of a site specific development plan or a phased development plan as provided in this article and in the local land development ordinances or regulations adopted pursuant to this chapter." *Id.* Thus, the concept of vested rights, under that statute, is meant to protect land owners from changes in land use laws. No change in land use laws, however, affected Kan's status as a beer and wine permit holder.

Accordingly, this Court should find that Kan was deprived of no vested right and affirm the ALC's denial of renewal of Kan's beer and wine permit.

V. The ALC's decision did not violate Kan's constitutional rights.

Kan argues that the ALC's decision to deny the renewal of the permit resulted in a violation of Kan's constitutional rights to due process and equal protection. (Appellant's Br. 16-18.) This Court should reject Kan's argument for two reasons.

First, these issues have not been preserved for appeal: Kan raised them for the first time in its Motion for Reconsideration. However, a “party cannot use Rule 59(e) to present to the court an issue the party could have raised prior to judgment but did not.” *Hickman v. Hickman*, 301 S.C. 455, 456, 392 S.E.2d 481, 482 (Ct. App. 1990). Accordingly, the alleged violations of constitutional rights are not part of the record before this Court.

Second, even if Kan preserved the issues of violation of constitutional rights by raising them in its Motion for Reconsideration, Kan’s argument must fail as it lacks any merit.

Kan argues that the ALC’s action violates its rights under the due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution. That clause provides that a state shall not “deprive any person of life, liberty, or property without due process of law[.]” U.S. Const. amend. XIV, § 1. Procedural due process is a flexible concept, calling “for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands.” *Kurschner v. City of Camden Planning Comm’n*, 376 S.C. 165, 172, 656 S.E.2d 346, 350 (2008). It requires “notice, an opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review.” *Id.* at 171, 656 S.E.2d at 350; *see also* S.C. Const. art. 1, § 22. A party claiming denial of due process in an administrative proceeding must show substantial prejudice. *Palmetto Alliance, Inc. v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 282 S.C. 430, 435, 319 S.E.2d 695, 698 (1984).

Here, Kan had notice of the matters to be tried and an opportunity to be heard. First, it was on notice that its application for renewal of its beer and wine permit had been protested and that the DOR had to deny it. Second, it was on notice that it could seek a contested case hearing to challenge the denial. Finally, Kan requested the hearing before

the ALC and at the hearing its counsel presented evidence and cross-examined Respondents' witnesses.

It appears that at the core of Kan's due process argument is the allegation that Kan "did not have any notice that the Court was going to disregard well established legal principles. . . . [and, therefore,] it did not have an adequate opportunity to prepare evidence to rebut the opinion testimony presented at the trial." (Appellant's Br. 16.) This is unavailing. As Judge Anderson noted in his Order on Motion for Reconsideration, Kan "was aware of the witnesses who would be called. In fact, [it] had copies of the protests that the witnesses had filed and also had the right to discovery." (Order on Motion for Reconsideration, for a Stay and for Supersedeas dated March 19, 2015, R. p. A-6.) As for the alleged application of the incorrect standard, Kan took advantage of procedural safeguards provided by Rule 59(e) of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 29(D) of the Rules of Procedure for the Administrative Law Court to address that issue.

Nor were Kan's substantive due process rights violated. Substantive due process provides protection against deprivation of life, liberty, or property for arbitrary reasons. *Worsley Companies, Inc. v. Town of Mount Pleasant*, 339 S.C. 51, 56, 528 S.E.2d 657, 660 (2000). Kan would have to show that by denying its renewal application, the ALC not only deprived it of a cognizable property interest rooted in state law, but also did so in an arbitrary and capricious manner. *Id.* As set forth above, Kan has no "cognizable property interest" in the renewal of its beer and wine permit because such permits are the property of the DOR. And furthermore, the ALC's decision was made upon thorough

consideration of competent evidence related to suitability of the A1 Food Store for sale of alcoholic beverages.

Finally, Kan argues that its equal protection rights have also been violated, citing two cases in support of its argument: *Skyscraper Corp. v. County of Newberry*, 323 S.C. 412, 475 S.E.2d 765 (1996) and *Sandy Springs Water Co. v. Dept. of Health and Env. Control*, 324 S.C. 177, 478 S.E.2d 60 (1996). In both of those cases plaintiffs sought to challenge discriminatory classifications imposed by a statute or ordinance. *Id.* In this case, Kan points to no statutory classification as the basis for its equal protection claim. Here again, these arguments have no merit and were not preserved for appeal. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the ALC's denial of renewal of Kan's beer and wine permit.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the decision of the Administrative Law Court because it is supported by substantial and competent evidence in the record and is not marked by any error of law or constitutional right.